
 

 

 
Agenda for Audit and Governance Committee 

Thursday, 17th November, 2022, 2.30 pm 
 
Members of Audit and Governance Committee 

Councillors: S Hawkins (Chair), D Barrow, S Gazzard, J Kemp, 

P Twiss, C Brown, R Lawrence, P Millar, J Whibley and 
T Woodward  

 
Venue: Council Chamber, Blackdown House, Honiton 

 
Contact: Amanda Coombes; 

01395 517543; email acoombes@eastdevon.gov.uk 

(or group number 01395 517546) 

Tuesday, 8 November 2022 
 

 
 
1 Public speaking   

 Information on public speaking is available online 

 

2 Minutes of the previous meeting  (Pages 3 - 6) 

 Minutes for 28 July 2022 
 

3 Apologies   

4 Declarations on interest   

 Guidance is available online to Councillors and co-opted members on making 

declarations of interest 
 

5 Matters of urgency   

 Information on matters of urgency is available online 

 
There is one late report at agenda item 12 - Review of the Local Code of 

Corporate Governance. 
 

6 Confidential/exempt item(s)   

 To agree any items to be dealt with after the public (including the Press) have 
been excluded. There are no items which officers recommend should be dealt 

with in this way. 
 

Matters for Decision 

 
7 Internal Audit Plan Progress November 2022 (2022/23) - SWAP  (Pages 7 - 

23) 

8 EDDC Sector update - Grant Thornton  (Pages 24 - 35) 

East Devon District Council 
Blackdown House 

Border Road 

Heathpark Industrial Estate 
Honiton 

EX14 1EJ 

DX 48808 HONITON 

Tel: 01404 515616 

www.eastdevon.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack

page 1

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/public-speaking/have-your-say-at-meetings/all-other-public-meetings/#article-content
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/councillor-conduct/councillor-reminder-for-declaring-interests/
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/matters-of-urgency/


9 EDDC Audit Plan 2021/22 - Grant Thornton  (Pages 36 - 54) 

10 Partnership Review 2022  (Pages 55 - 58) 

11 STRATA ICT Audit 2021/22 -DAP  (Pages 59 - 82) 

12 Review of the Local Code of Corporate Governance  (Pages 83 - 85) 

13 RIPA update   

 At the meeting of 18 January 2018, Members agreed to receive an update on 

RIPA activity throughout the year (Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act). The 
RIPA Senior Responsible Officer advised that there had been no requests for 
RIPA authorisation since the last committee. 

 

14 Audit and Governance Forward Plan  (Pages 86 - 87) 

 
 

 
 
Under the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, any members of the 

public are now allowed to take photographs, film and audio record the proceedings and 
report on all public meetings (including on social media). No prior notification is needed but 

it would be helpful if you could let the democratic services team know you plan to film or 
record so that any necessary arrangements can be made to provide reasonable facilities for 
you to report on meetings. This permission does not extend to private meetings or parts of 

meetings which are not open to the public. You should take all recording and photography 
equipment with you if a public meeting moves into a session which is not open to the public.  

 
If you are recording the meeting, you are asked to act in a reasonable manner and not 
disrupt the conduct of meetings for example by using intrusive lighting, flash photography or 

asking people to repeat statements for the benefit of the recording. You may not make an 
oral commentary during the meeting. The Chair has the power to control public recording 

and/or reporting so it does not disrupt the meeting. 
 
Members of the public exercising their right to speak during Public Speaking will be 

recorded. 
 

Decision making and equalities 
 

For a copy of this agenda in large print, please contact the Democratic 
Services Team on 01395 517546 

page 2

http://new.eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/committees-and-meetings/decision-making-and-equalities-duties/


EAST DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Minutes of the meeting of Audit and Governance Committee held at Online 

via the Zoom app. on 28 July 2022 

 
Attendance list at end of document 

The meeting started at 2.30 pm and ended at 3.44 pm 
 

 
1    Public speaking  

 

There were no members of the public registered to speak. 

 
2    Minutes of the previous meeting  

 

The minutes of the Audit and Governance Committee held on 16 March 2022 were 
recommended for approval. 

 
3    Declarations on interest  

 

None 

 
4    Matters of urgency  

 

None 
 

5    Confidential/exempt item(s)  

 

None 
 

6    Internal Audit Plan 2021-22 Outturn - to include Seaton Jurassic 

Centre Lessons Learnt report  

 

Adam Williams from SWAP provided an update on the outturn of the 2021/22 Internal 
Audit Plan and highlighted to members any significant findings identified through the 

audit work that impacted on governance, risk and control.  
 

The Chair agreed to meet with the Leader and Strategic Lead Finance to discuss in more 
detail the Whistleblowing item in the Audit Plan, and if appropriate would request a 
further report to come back to the Committee. 

 
Seaton Jurassic Centre Lessons Learnt report 

This was a non-opinion ‘Lessons Learnt’ review offered by SWAP Internal Audit in its 
consultancy role. SWAP had been asked to review the governance and management of 
the initial build project for the Seaton Jurassic Centre and determine whether future 

lessons could be learnt from this.  
 

Discussions around the Seaton Jurassic Centre report included the following; 
 To look into past years document management and digital data retention 

 the need to discuss the matter further between the Chairs of Audit & Governance and 
Scrutiny Committees to consider if a more detailed review was required. 

 
Having received the report and noted the contents, members;  

page 3

Agenda Item 2



Audit and Governance Committee 28 July 2022 
 

RECOMMENDED: 

noted the outturn made in delivery of the 2021/22 internal audit plan and significant 

findings and to agreed to review the Whistleblowing Policy. 
  
 

7    Internal Audit Annual Audit Opinion 2021-22  

 

Adam Williams from SWAP updated members of the Internal Audit function which played 
a central role in corporate governance by providing assurance to the Annual Audit, 

Governance and Standards Committee, looking over financial controls and checking on 
the probity of the organisation. The 2021-22 Annual Audit Plan provided independent 
and objective assurance on EDDC Internal Control Environment. This work supported 

the Annual Governance Statement. 
 

Having received the report and noted the contents, members;  
RECOMMENDED:  

noted the Internal Audit Annual Opinion on the effectiveness of governance, risk and 

control in the delivery of EDDC Objectives. 
 

 
8    Revenue and Capital Outturn Report 2021-2022  

 

The Finance Manager informed the Committee of the financial outturn position for 
2021/22. 

 
Discussions included the following; 

 Why had there been an underspend on the maintenance of the council’s housing stock? 

 Any workload slippage from the contractor had a knock-on effect on residents 

 Residents reporting maintenance requirements needed to be followed up quickly 

 Any future contractual work would go through the procurement process allowing for 
possibly multiple contractors working for the council 

 There was a housing stock condition survey going ahead with data collect from this being 
used to improve services. 

 

Having received the report and noted the contents, members; 
RECOMMENDED: 

To note the Revenue and Capital Outturn position for 2021/22 and the recommendations 
to Cabinet on 13 July 2022. 
 

9    Risk Management Review  

 

Risk information for the 2022/23 financial year was supplied to allow the Committee to 
monitor the risk status of Strategic and Operational Risks. This followed the full review of 

risks by responsible officers during May/June 2022. 
 
Having received the report and noted the contents, members; 
RECOMMENDED: 

To note the current status of risks following the full risk review undertaken in May/June 

2022. 
 
 

 
 

page 4



Audit and Governance Committee 28 July 2022 
 

10    Auditor's Annual Report 2020-21 - Grant Thornton  

 

Jackson Murray from Grant Thornton presented the Annual report for 2020-21. During 
discussions the matter of continuing virtual meeting was raised after 31 October as well 

as the subject of Cabinet members sitting on the Committee, which went against 
CIPFA’s (Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy) best practise for good 
governance and effective audit committees. 

 
Having received the report and noted the contents, members; 
RECOMMENDED: 

Members noted the Auditor's Annual Report 2020-21. 
 
RECOMMENDED to Council; 

To remove Cabinet members from sitting on the Audit and Governance Committee to 

ensure independence of the executive function. 
 

11    Contract Standing Orders update  

 

The Strategic Lead Finance explained that there was an updated version of the Council’s 

Contract Standing Orders for the Committee to consider and if in agreement to 
recommend adoption by Council. The Government was introducing new procurement 
legislation, Transforming Public Procurement /the Procurement Bill, but it was not 

expected to be in place until mid-2023. Contract Standing Orders would be amended to 
incorporate this legislation once enacted, but in the meantime an interim update was 

required to reflect the UK having left the EU and the transition period having ended. 
 
RECOMMENDED to Council that; 

the updated version of Contract Standing Orders was adopted. 
 

12    RIPA update  

 

The RIPA Senior Responsible Officer advised that there had been no requests for RIPA 
authorisation since the last committee. 
 

13    Audit and Governance Forward Plan  

 

RECOMMENDED that;  

Members note the contents of the Committee Forward Plan for 2022/23. 

 
Items to be considered at the September 2022 committee included: 
 

 Audit Committee Update 

 External Audit Plan 2021/22  
 Review of the Local Code of Corporate Governance 

 RIPA update 

 Strata Annual Internal Audit report 

 Internal Audit Activity – Quarter 2 2021/22 

 Partnership Register 

 
 

 

 

page 5



Audit and Governance Committee 28 July 2022 
 

Attendance List 

Councillors present: 

S Hawkins (Chair) 
D Barrow 

P Hayward 
N Hookway (Vice-Chair) 
J Kemp 

C Brown 
R Lawrence 

P Millar 
 
Councillors also present (for some or all the meeting) 

P Arnott 
P Faithfull 

D Ledger 
J Rowland 
 
Officers in attendance: 

Amanda Coombes, Democratic Services Officer 

Graham Baker, Property and Asset Manager 
Simon Davey, Strategic Lead Finance 
Jackson Murray, Grant Thornton 

John Symes, Finance Manager 
Adam Williams, SWAP 

Steve Gammon, Housing Systems Manager 
 
Councillor apologies: 

S Gazzard 
P Twiss 

 
 
 

 
 

Chair   Date:  

 

page 6



 

Unrestricted 

Report to: Audit and Governance Committee 

 

Date of Meeting 17 November 2022 

Document classification: Part A Public Document 

Exemption applied: None 

Review date for release N/A 

 

Internal Audit Plan Progress November 2022 (2022/23) 

 

Report summary: 

This report is to provide an update on the 2022/23 Internal Audit Plan as at end of October 2022. 

 

Recommendation: 

Members are asked to note progress made in delivery of the 2022/23 internal audit plan and 
findings Reported. 

 

Reason for recommendation: 

The Committee are required to review the progress of the audit plan. 

 

 

Officer: Alastair Woodland, Assistant Director, SWAP. 

 

Portfolio(s) (check which apply): 

☐ Climate Action 

☐ Coast, Country and Environment  

☐ Corporate Services and COVID-19 Response and Recovery 

☐ Democracy and Transparency 

☐ Economy and Assets 

☒ Finance 

☐ Policy Co-ordination and Regional Engagement 

☐ Strategic Planning 

☐ Sustainable Homes and Communities 

Financial implications: 

 There are no direct financial implications identified. 

Legal implications: 

 The legal framework is reflected in the report. While there are no direct legal implications arising, 

ensuring Key Actions are carried out will reduce risk to the Council which in turn will reduce the 
chance of failures or challenges occurring. 

Equalities impact Low Impact 

page 7

Agenda Item 7



 

Unrestricted 

 

Climate change Low Impact 

Risk: Low Risk;  

Links to background information Internal Audit Plan 2022/23 

Link to Council Plan:  

Priorities (check which apply) 

☐ Better homes and communities for all  

☐ A greener East Devon 

☒ A resilient economy 

 

 

page 8

https://democracy.eastdevon.gov.uk/documents/s15579/Internal%20Audit%20Plan%20and%20Charter%202022-23.pdf
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/new-council-plan/index.htm


 

Internal Audit  Risk  Special Investigations  Consultancy 

Unrestricted 

 
 
 
 
 
 

East Devon District Council 
Report of Internal Audit Activity 
Plan Progress 2022/23 November 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

page 9



 

 

 

SWAP work is completed to comply with the International Professional Practices Framework of the Institute of Internal Auditors, further guided 
by interpretation provided by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note. Page 1 

 
Unrestricted 

Contents 
 
 

The contacts at SWAP in  
connection with this report are: 
 
David Hill 
Chief Executive  
Tel: 020 8142 5030 
david.hill@swapaudit.co.uk 
 
Alastair Woodland 
Assistant Director 
Tel:  07720312467 
alastair.woodland@swapaudit.co.uk 
 
Adam Williams 
Principal Auditor 
Adam.williams@swapaudit.co.uk 

  Summary:  

  Contents Page 1 

  Role of Internal Audit Page 2 

  Control Assurance:  

  Internal Audit Work Programme Page 3 

  Significant Corporate Risks Page 4 

  Summary of Limited or No Assurance Opinions Page 4 

    

    

  Plan Performance:  

  Approved Changes to the Audit Plan Page 5 

  EDDC Internal Audit Plan Performance Page 6 

    

  Appendices:  

  Appendix A – Audit Framework Definitions Page 7 

  Appendix B – Summary of Work Plan Pages 8-11 

   Appendix C – One page summary of Limited Assurance audits Pages 12-14 
 

page 10



Plan Changes 
 

 

 

SWAP work is completed to comply with the International Professional Practices Framework of the Institute of Internal Auditors, further guided 
by interpretation provided by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note. Page 2 

 Unrestricted 

Our audit activity is split between: 
 
 Operational Audit 
 Governance Audit 
 Key Control Audit 
 IT Audit 
 Grants 
 Other Reviews 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  Role of Internal Audit 

  
 The Internal Audit service for the East Devon District Council is provided by SWAP Internal Audit Services (SWAP).  

SWAP is a Local Authority controlled Company.  SWAP has adopted and works to the Standards of the Institute 
of Internal Auditors, further guided by interpretation provided by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards 
(PSIAS), and also follows the CIPFA Code of Practice for Internal Audit.  The Partnership is also guided by the 
Internal Audit Charter which was presented at the March 2022 Audit and Governance Committee. 
 
 
Internal Audit provides an independent and objective opinion on the Authority’s control environment by 
evaluating its effectiveness.  Primarily the work includes: 

 Operational Audit Reviews 
 Cross Cutting Governance Audits 
 Annual Review of Key Financial System Controls 
 Grants 
 Other Special or Unplanned Review 

 
 
Internal Audit work is largely driven by an Audit Plan. We have adopted an ‘agile rolling plan’ approach and whilst 
this will be a ‘live’ continuous approach, confirmed work will only cover every 6 months with a rolling ‘back-log’ 
for future consideration. Priorities will be assessed in conjunction with Senior Management, and we welcome 
input from members of the Audit and Governance Committee. The 2022-23 Audit Plan was reported to the Audit 
and Governance Committee and approved at its meeting in March 2022. Audit assignments are undertaken in 
accordance with this Plan to assess current levels of governance, control and risk within East Devon District 
Council.  
 
 
 
 

page 11



Internal Audit Plan Progress 2022-23 
 

 

SWAP work is completed to comply with the International Professional Practices Framework of the Institute of Internal Auditors, further guided 
by interpretation provided by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note. Page 3 

 

 
Outturn to Date: 
 
We rank our recommendations on a 
scale of 1 to 3, with 3 being minor or 
administrative concerns to 1 being 
areas of major concern requiring 
immediate corrective action. 

  Internal Audit Work programme 

  
 The schedule provided at Appendix B contains a list of all audits in the rolling plan for 2022-23 as presented to 

this Committee in March 2022. It is important that Members are aware of the status of all audits being delivered 
and that this information helps them place reliance on the work of Internal Audit and its ability to complete the 
plan as agreed. 
 
Each completed assignment includes its respective “assurance opinion” rating together with the number and 
relative ranking of recommendations that have been raised with management.  In such cases, the Committee can 
take assurance that improvement actions have been agreed with management to address these. The assurance 
opinion ratings have been determined in accordance with the Internal Audit “Audit Framework Definitions” as 
detailed on Appendix A of this document. 
 
The following table summarises the Audits finalised from the 2022/23 Plan: 

Audit Area Opinion 

Homelessness Reasonable 

Annual Vehicle Declarations and Compliance (Follow Up) Advisory 

Protect and vaccinate Grant Certification 

Housing Rents Reasonable 

Covid Outbreak Management Fund – CIA Sign off Grant Certification 

Disabled Facility Grants and Better Care Fund Limited 

Restart Grants – Post Payment Assurance  Reasonable 

Baseline Assessment for Maturity of Fraud Risk Advisory 

Main Accounting Reasonable 
 
Note we report by exception. Full copies of each Limited/No Assurance Opinion Report and Follow up reports will 
be uploaded to the audit committee document library for members to read at their discretion.   

page 12



Internal Audit Plan Progress 2022-23 
 

 

SWAP work is completed to comply with the International Professional Practices Framework of the Institute of Internal Auditors, further guided 
by interpretation provided by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note. Page 4 

 

Significant Corporate Risks 
 
Identified Significant Corporate Risks 
should be brought to the attention of 
the Audit Committee. 

  Significant Corporate Risks 

  
 We provide a definition of the 3 Risk Levels applied within audit reports and these are detailed in Appendix A.  For 

those audits which have reached report stage through the year, I will report risks we have assessed as ‘High’.    
  
In this update there are no final reports included with significant (High) corporate risks. 
 

Completed Assignments: 
 
Summary of work completed with a 
focus on the high priority issues that 
we believe should be brought to the 
attention of the Audit Committee. 
 

 Limited or No Assurance 
Opinions 

 Follow-ups 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  Summary of Work Completed – Limited/No Assurance Opinions & Follow up 

  
 One audit has resulted in a Limited Assurance opinion, Disability Facility Grants and Better Care Fund. A one-page 

summary of this audit is included in Appendix C. 
 
Two follow up audits have been completed within since the previous update in relation to Baseline Assessment 
of Maturity of Fraud and the Annual Vehicle Declarations and Compliance Audit. Summary details of both audits 
are contained in Appendix C.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

page 13



Plan Changes 
 

 

 

SWAP work is completed to comply with the International Professional Practices Framework of the Institute of Internal Auditors, further guided 
by interpretation provided by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note. Page 5 

 Unrestricted 

We keep our audit plans under regular 
review so as to ensure that we are 
auditing the right things at the right 
time. Audit Plans are undertaken on a 
rolling quarterly basis.   
 
 
 

  Approved Changes to the Plan 

 The audit plan for 2022/23 is detailed in Appendix B.  We operate a rolling plan agreeing priorities for each quarter 
in turn. The reviews below are those agreed with management that were incorporated to the plan for Q3 and Q4 
from the rolling plan presented to this committee in March 2022.    
 

Assignment Amendment Reason 

Covid Outbreak Management 
Fund 

Added Requirement for CIA Sign off 

Housing Compliance – Asbestos Deferred Deferred from Q1 due to capacity with the EDDC team.  Now scheduled 
for Q3.   

Data Protection & GDPR Added 

Previous follow up identified a number of actions outstanding. 
Assurance also sought around dashboards that have been created to aid 
data sharing are still compliant with DPA requirements in that access to 
data is appropriate.  

Revenues & Benefit Fraud 
Support 

Added Support to be provided by SWAP Counter Fraud Team. 

Cranbrook Town Development 
Project Governance 

Added Review to look into the governance arrangements of the Cranbrook 
Strategic Delivery Board and decision making. 

Worksmart+ strategy Added To provide assurance on the Worksmart+ strategy. 

Cyber Security  Added Assessment of cyber security controls from an end user perspective. 

Firmstep Added 

Previous audit received limited assurance and was followed up in 
February 2022 and identified a number of recommendations had still 
not started. A further review has been included in the plan to provide 
assurance on delivery. 

Housing Invoice Payment 
Process Follow Up Added Follow up of previous limited assurance audit. 

Value For Money Added Scope to be discussed with the s151 Officer about area to focus on.  
 

 

page 14



Plan Performance 
 

 

SWAP work is completed to comply with the International Professional Practices Framework of the Institute of Internal Auditors, further guided 
by interpretation provided by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note. Page 6 

 

 
The Assistant Director for SWAP 
reports performance on a regular 
basis to the SWAP Management and 
Partnership Boards. 
 
 

  SWAP Performance 

  
 SWAP now provides the Internal Audit service for 24 public sector bodies.  SWAP performance is subject to regular 

monitoring review by both the Board and the Member Meetings. The respective performance position for East 
Devon District Council for quarters 1, 2 (Apr to Sep) as at the end 3 November were as follows:  

  
 

Performance Target Year End Q1 Q2 

Audit Plan – Percentage Progress 
Final, Draft and Discussion 

In progress 
Yet to complete 

>90% 
100% 

0% 
0% 

57% 
43% 
0% 

Quality of Audit Work 
Customer Satisfaction Questionnaire >95% 100% 

Outcomes from Audit Work 
Value to the Organisation 

(client view of whether our audit work 
met or exceeded expectations, in 

terms of value to their area) 
 

>95% 100% 

 

 
 

page 15



Definitions                Appendix A 
 

 

 

SWAP work is completed to comply with the International Professional Practices Framework of the Institute of Internal Auditors, further guided 
by interpretation provided by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note. Page 7 

 Unrestricted 

Assurance Definitions 

No Immediate action is required to address fundamental gaps, weaknesses or non-compliance identified. The system of governance, risk 
management and control are inadequate to effectively manage risks to the achievement of objectives in the area audited. 

Limited Significant gaps, weaknesses or non-compliance were identified. Improvement is required to the system of governance, risk management and 
control to effectively manage risks to the achievement of objectives in the area audited. 

Reasonable There is a generally sound system of governance, risk management and control in place. Some issues, non-compliance or scope for 
improvement were identified which may put at risk the achievement of objectives in the area audited. 

Substantial A sound system of governance, risk management and control exist, with internal controls operating effectively and being consistently applied 
to support the achievement of objectives in the area audited. 

Non-
Opinion/Advisory 

In addition to our opinion-based work we will provide consultancy services. The “advice” offered by Internal Audit in its consultancy role may 
include risk analysis and evaluation, developing potential solutions to problems and providing controls assurance. 

 

Definition of Corporate Risks   Categorisation of Recommendations  

Risk Reporting Implications 
 In addition to the corporate risk assessment it is important that management know 

how important the recommendation is to their service. Each recommendation has 
been given a priority rating at service level with the following definitions: 

High 
Issues that we consider need to be brought to the 
attention of both senior management and the Audit 
Committee. 

 
Priority 1 

Findings that are fundamental to the integrity of the service’s 
business processes and require the immediate attention of 
management. 

Medium Issues which should be addressed by management in 
their areas of responsibility. 

 
Priority 2 Important findings that need to be resolved by management. 

Low Issues of a minor nature or best practice where some 
improvement can be made. 

 
Priority 3 Finding that requires attention. 

 
 

page 16



Summary of Work Plan                                                                                                                                         Appendix B 
 

 

SWAP work is completed to comply with the International Professional Practices Framework of the Institute of Internal Auditors, further guided 
by interpretation provided by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note. Page 8 

 

Audit Type Audit Area Quarter Status Opinion No of 
Rec 

1 - Major 
 3 - Minor Comments 

1 2 3 

FINAL 

Assurance Homelessness 1 Final Reasonable 5 - 3 2  

Follow Up Annual Vehicle Declarations 
and Compliance 1 Final Follow Up 1 - 1 - 1 P2 outstanding. 

Grant 
Certification 

Protect and Vaccinate – CIA 
Sign off 1 Final Advisory - - - - 

Sign off requirements were 
changed after audit work 
completed. 

Assurance Housing Rents 1 Final Reasonable 2 - 1 1 
 

Assurance Disability Facility Grants and 
Better Care 1 Final Limited 10 - 5 5  

Assurance Restart Grants 1 Final Reasonable 0 0 0 0  

Advisory Baseline Assessment for 
Maturity of Fraud Risk 1 Final Advisory 0 0 0 0 16 amber actions to resolve 

Grant 
Certification 

NEW: Covid Outbreak 
Management Fund (COMF) 2 Final Advisory - - - -  

Assurance Main Accounting 2 Final Reasonable 7 - 2 5  

DRAFT 

Follow Up Small Works and Services 
Contract Management 2 Draft Follow Up 1 - 1 - 

 

page 17



Summary of Work Plan                                                                                                                                         Appendix B 
 

 

SWAP work is completed to comply with the International Professional Practices Framework of the Institute of Internal Auditors, further guided 
by interpretation provided by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note. Page 9 

 

Audit Type Audit Area Quarter Status Opinion No of 
Rec 

1 - Major 
 3 - Minor Comments 

1 2 3 

Assurance Debtors 2 Draft 
      

IN PROGRESS 

Advisory NEW: Recommendation 
Tracking 2 In Progress 

      

Assurance Climate Change 2 In Progress 
      

Assurance Economic Resilience 2 In Progress 
      

Assurance Housing Compliance – 
Asbestos 3 Initiation 

      

NOT STARTED 

Assurance Data Protection & GDPR 3  
      

Advisory Revenues & Benefit Fraud 
Support 3  

      

Assurance Worksmart+ strategy 3  
      

Assurance 
Cyber Security 3  

      

Assurance Cranbrook Town Development 
Project Governance 4  

      

page 18



Summary of Work Plan                                                                                                                                         Appendix B 
 

 

SWAP work is completed to comply with the International Professional Practices Framework of the Institute of Internal Auditors, further guided 
by interpretation provided by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note. Page 10 

 

Audit Type Audit Area Quarter Status Opinion No of 
Rec 

1 - Major 
 3 - Minor Comments 

1 2 3 
Assurance 

Firmstep 4  
      

Follow Up Housing Invoice Payment 
Process Follow Up 4  

      

Advisory Value For Money advice 4  
      

 
The list below constitutes the rolling ‘unscheduled’ audits for consideration as shared with this Committee in March 2022. This list will be reviewed and updated 
periodically and I welcome the input of Audit Committee Members for area to consider on the rolling plan.  
 

Audit Type Audit Area  Audit Type Audit Area 
 

Audit Type Audit Area 

Assurance Decision Making  Assurance Partnership Arrangements 
 

Assurance Beach/coast Management 

Assurance Corporate Property Health and 
Safety  Assurance Complaints Arrangements 

 
Assurance Car Parking  

Assurance Financial Planning (MTFP)  Assurance FOI & Environmental Information 
Regulations 

 
Assurance Apprenticeships 

Assurance Voluntary Sector Engagement  Assurance Recruitment and on-boarding 
 

Assurance Streetscene 

Assurance Supply Chains and Third-Party Risk  Assurance Emergency Planning 
 

Assurance IR35  

Assurance Related Party Disclosures  Assurance Home Safeguard 
 

Assurance VAT 

page 19



Summary of Work Plan                                                                                                                                         Appendix B 
 

 

SWAP work is completed to comply with the International Professional Practices Framework of the Institute of Internal Auditors, further guided 
by interpretation provided by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note. Page 11 

 

Assurance Health and Safety at Work  Assurance Regeneration Projects 
 

Assurance Waste and Recycling Services 

Assurance Council's Response to energy crisis  Assurance Ethical Governance 
 

Assurance LG Transparency Code 

Assurance Play Schemes/Areas  Assurance Public Health 
 

Assurance Absence Management 

Assurance Information Management  Assurance Asset Management Strategy and 
Planning 

 
Assurance Risk Management 

Assurance Firmstep Implementation  Assurance Performance Management and Data 
Quality 

 
Assurance Workplace Culture - 

Discrimination & Staff Inequality 

Assurance Flood Management  Assurance Community Safety 
 

Assurance Empty Homes 

Assurance Major Projects  Assurance Environmental Protection 
 

Assurance Disability Facility Grants and 
Better Care Follow Up 

  

page 20



One page summary of Limited Assurance/Follow Up audits       Appendix C 
 

 

 

SWAP work is completed to comply with the International Professional Practices Framework of the Institute of Internal Auditors, further guided 
by interpretation provided by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note. Page 12 

 Unrestricted 

 

page 21



One page summary of Limited Assurance/Follow Up audits       Appendix C 
 

 

SWAP work is completed to comply with the International Professional Practices Framework of the Institute of Internal Auditors, further guided 
by interpretation provided by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note. Page 13 

 

Annual Vehicle Declarations and Compliance – Follow up Audit 
 
The original audit of the Annual Vehicle Declaration and Compliance was completed in January 2022 and received a limited assurance opinion. The objective of the 
audit was to confirm that white fleet drivers are adhering with the Annual Vehicle Declaration and that the Council is monitoring compliance. The follow up audit 
has found the majority of actions have now been completed. Key findings from the audit follow up have been summarised below. 
 

 
 

Issues – January 2022 Position July 2022 

Resource – No dedicated 
Fleet Officer 

A new Fleet Administrator Officer was agreed in the 2022/23 budget and is now 
in place. 

Mobile tracking App 
inconsistent usage 

SMT+ members reminded staff to use tracking device app.  The current Budget 
& Equipment Monitoring Officer role is currently being redesigned to become 
the Fleet & Equipment Officer.  Once this is completed the role will include 
monitoring the use of the Mobile App. 

Records not retained of 
driving induction Sign off of induction now in place are evidence retained. 

 

page 22



One page summary of Limited Assurance/Follow Up audits       Appendix C 
 

 

SWAP work is completed to comply with the International Professional Practices Framework of the Institute of Internal Auditors, further guided 
by interpretation provided by the Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) and the CIPFA Local Government Application Note. Page 14 

 

 

page 23



page 24

A
genda Item

 8



Public

page 25



Public

page 26

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/


Public

•

•

•

page 27



Public

page 28

https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/aeb9149f-7bf9-45f2-802d-ca7b055b457e/Major-Local-Audits.pdf
https://www.frc.org.uk/getattachment/aeb9149f-7bf9-45f2-802d-ca7b055b457e/Major-Local-Audits.pdf


Public

page 29

https://www.psaa.co.uk/2022/10/press-release-psaa-announcement-of-procurement-outcome/


Public

•

•

•

•

page 30

http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/industries/public-sector/
http://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/industries/public-sector/local-government/


Public

•

•

•

page 31

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-audit-framework-technical-consultation/outcome/government-response-to-local-audit-framework-technical-consultation


Public

page 32

https://www.cipfa.org/cipfa-thinks/insight/reporting-on-internal-audit
https://www.ifac.org/knowledge-gateway/building-trust-ethics/discussion/we-need-maximise-internal-audit-s-impact


Public

•

•

•

•

•

Audit and Risk Assurance Committee effectiveness tool -
National Audit Office (NAO) Report

page 33

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/audit-and-risk-assurance-committee-effectiveness-tool/


Public

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

page 34

https://www.nao.org.uk/report/guidance-for-audit-and-risk-committees-on-financial-reporting-and-management-during-covid-19/


page 35



page 36

A
genda Item

 9



Public

page 37



Public

page 38



Public

•

•

•

page 39



Public

•

•

•

page 40



Public

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

page 41



Public

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

page 42



Public

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

page 43



Public

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

page 44



Public

•

•

•

•

•

•

page 45



Public

•

•

•

•

–

–

–

–

•

page 46



Public

page 47



Public

13

IT system Audit area Planned level IT audit assessment

page 48



Public

page 49



Public

15

•

•

•

•

•

page 50



Public

.

•

•

•

Ethical Standard (revised 
2019)

page 51



Public

page 52



Public

page 53



page 54



Report to: Audit and Governance Committee 

 

Date of Meeting 17th November 2022 

Document classification: Part A Public Document 

Exemption applied: None 

Review date for release N/A 

 

Partnership Review 2021/22 

Report summary: 

Partnership information for the 2021/22 financial year until March 2022 is supplied to allow the 
Audit and Governance Committee to monitor the status of our partnerships. This follows the year-

end review of partnerships by responsible officers for 2021/22. 

 

Is the proposed decision in accordance with: 

Budget    Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Policy Framework  Yes ☒ No ☐  

Recommendation: 

That the Audit and Governance Committee considers the current status of our partnerships 

following the full partnership review undertaken in July 2022. 

 

Reason for recommendation: 

To ensure that the Partnership Management Policy and Guidance is being followed and all 
partnership are being monitored. 

 

Officer: Simon Davey, Strategic Lead - Finance sdavey@eastdevon.gov.uk  ext 2690 and Joanne 

Avery, Management Information Officer javery@eastdevon.gov.uk   ext 2332 

 

Portfolio(s) (check which apply): 

☐ Climate Action and Emergency Response 

☐ Coast, Country and Environment 

☐ Council and Corporate Co-ordination 

☐ Democracy, Transparency and Communications 

☐ Economy and Assets 

☒ Finance 

☐ Strategic Planning 

☐ Sustainable Homes and Communities 

☐ Tourism, Sports, Leisure and Culture 

 

Equalities impact Low Impact 

Climate change Low Impact 

page 55

Agenda Item 10

mailto:sdavey@eastdevon.gov.uk
mailto:javery@eastdevon.gov.uk


Risk: High Risk; Failure to identify, assess, monitor, review and manage partnerships could impact 
negatively (i.e. financial, reputational, operationally) on the council.    

Links to background information  

Appendix A – Year-end Partnership Review 2021/22 

Link to Council Plan 

Priorities (check which apply) 

☐ Better homes and communities for all  

☐ A greener East Devon 

☒ A resilient economy 

 

 

Report in full 

1. The EDDC’s Partnership Policy requires all partnerships identified by the council to be 

reviewed annually. There are currently 12 active partnerships as defined by our policy which 
states that EDDC uses the following as the definition of a partnership: “An agreement 

between two or more independent bodies to work collectively to achieve an objective.” 
Also a partnership must reflect the following criteria: 

 critical to the delivery of the Council’s corporate priorities 

 strategic in nature 

 require significant resource input from the Council 

 have constitution and governance arrangements in place 

 have multi-agency membership 

 

2. For this year-end review for 2021/22 all lead officers involved with a partnership were asked 

to assess the overall partnership, reviewing budget issues, achievements, forward plans and 
the ongoing benefit of continuing engagement with the partnership.  

 

3. The partnerships are active and met at least three times annually, some more often. There 
are no major current budget issues with any of the partnerships although most receive some 

funding from EDDC. It is recommended that our involvement with each of the partnerships 
continues with benefits of continued engagement with each being outlined below. 
 

Partnership Active or 
inactive 

partnership 

Benefit of continued engagement 

Shared ICT service with Exeter 
City and Teignbridge Councils  

(Strata) 

Active Council Plan Outstanding Council: 
efficiencies - both financial, time saving 

and service resilience 
South West Audit Partnership 
(SWAP) 
 

Active Council Plan Outstanding Council: 
efficiencies - both financial, time saving 
and service resilience 

Exeter Science Park 
(Exeter Science Park Company Ltd 
– ESPL) 

Active Key objective of the Council is delivery of a 
thriving, competitive local economy 

Cranbrook Strategic Delivery 

Board 

Active  The delivery of the Cranbrook new 

community cuts across all of the key 
priorities in the Council Plan.   

Enterprise Zone Active  Continued delivery of new employment 
space and job opportunities.  Overcoming 

page 56

http://eastdevon.gov.uk/papers/auditgovernance/171122bpagpartnershipreview2022.pdf
http://eastdevon.gov.uk/papers/auditgovernance/171122bpagpartnershipreview2022.pdf
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/councilplan/
http://www.eastdevonaonb.org.uk/


Partnership Active or 
inactive 

partnership 

Benefit of continued engagement 

barriers to delivery including in relation to 
Cranbrook town centre. 

Placemaking in Exmouth Town 
and Seafront Group (formerly 
Exmouth Queen's Drive Delivery 
Group) 
 

Active Delivery of contemporary additions to the 
seafront leisure and visitor attractions to 
enhance local economy, social value and 
wider town reputation.  Process of 
transition underway toward creating a 
Delivery Group to focus on completing 
Phase 3 of Queen’s Drive redevelopment. 

Exe Estuary Partnership Active To support the conservation and 

management of an internationally site for 
both wildlife and to educate and inform its 

users. 
Devon Rural Housing Partnership Active To help ensure that good quality rural 

affordable housing for local people 
continues to be delivered in an attempt to 
meet the need. 

DCHOP (Devon & Cornwall 
Housing Options Partnership) 

Active Sharing of good practice. 
Opportunity to discuss issues and solve 

problems with other LA’s. 
Shared training (and cost benefits). 
Joint working opportunities, including 
joint funding bids. 
Consistent and supportive approach to 
challenges such as new government 
legislation, funding cuts etc 

Blackdown Hills Area of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty 
(AONB) 

 

Active Proven partnership delivering AONB 

Management Plan and Duty of Regard for 
EDDC under Sec 85 CROW Act 2000 

 
Significant multiplier of EDDC’s 

contribution 
                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                   

Continuation of partnership working with 
key public and private sector partners. 

 
Ability to access additional funding for 

local projects  
 

Working with farming & local communities 
– e.g. via farm facilitation group (with 110 
farmer members) 

East Devon Area of Outstanding 

Natural Beauty (AONB) 
 

Active  Proven partnership delivering AONB 

Management Plan and Duty of Regard for 
EDDC under Sec 85 CROW Act 2000 

Significant multiplier of EDDC’s 
contribution                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                           

Continuation of partnership working with 
key public and private sector partners. 

page 57

http://www.eastdevonaonb.org.uk/
http://www.eastdevonaonb.org.uk/


Partnership Active or 
inactive 

partnership 

Benefit of continued engagement 

Ability to access additional funding for 
local projects e.g. Corry & Coly NFM 
project 

Working with farming & local communities 
- ELM trials and facilitation group 

East and Mid Devon Community 
Safety Partnership 

Active It is a statutory requirement but it does 
demonstrate the added value of 
partnership working. Links to funding 
streams for OPCC and Safer Devon 
Partnership. 

 

 
4. A report showing the partnerships detail appears in Appendix A.   

  

 

Financial implications: 

No direct financial implications  

Legal implications: 

There are no direct legal implications 

page 58

http://eastdevon.gov.uk/papers/auditgovernance/171122bpagpartnershipreview2022.pdf


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 Internal Audit 
Report 

 

 

 Strata ICT Audit   

   

 

 Strata Services 
Solutions - ICT 
Partnership 
organisation of 
Exeter, East Devon 
and Teignbridge 

 

 

 July 2022  

 

   

 

 Official  

page 59

Agenda Item 11



 

 

2 of 24 

 

    

Devon Audit Partnership 

 

Devon Audit Partnership (DAP) has been formed under a joint committee arrangement 
comprising of Plymouth, Torbay, Devon, Mid-Devon, South Hams & West Devon, Torridge 

and North Devon councils and we aim to be recognised as a high quality public sector 
service provider.  

We work with our partners by providing professional internal audit and assurance services 
that will assist them in meeting their challenges, managing their risks and achieving their 
goals.  In carrying out our work we are required to comply with the Public Sector Internal  

Audit Standards (PSIAS) along with other best practice and professional standards. 

The Partnership is committed to providing high quality, professional customer services to 

all; if you have any comments or suggestions on our service, processes or standards, the 
Head of Partnership would be pleased to receive them at 
robert.hutchins@devonaudit.gov.uk. 

 

 

Confidentiality and Disclosure Clause 

 

This report is protectively marked in accordance with the National Protective Marking 
Scheme. Its contents are confidential and, whilst it is accepted that issues raised may well 

need to be discussed with other officers within the organisation, the report itself should 
only be copied/circulated/disclosed to anyone outside of the organisation in line wi th the 

organisation’s disclosure policies. 

 

This report is prepared for the organisation’s use. We can take no responsibility to any 

third party for any reliance they might place upon it. 

page 60



 

Page 3 of 24 

 

 

1 Introduction 

  

 Strata Service Solutions has three founding partners (The Partners), East Devon 

District Council (EDDC), Exeter City Council (ECC) and Teignbridge District Council 
(TDC). The creation of Strata in 2014 represented an innovative approach that has 
positioned the Partners well as many Councils around the country increasingly look 

to enter similar partnership arrangements.  

Strata has been in operation for seven years on 1st November 

2021 and has established itself as a successful provider of IT 
services within the South West region. Despite encountering both 
expected and unexpected challenges during this period, a common 

infrastructure platform and desktop technology are now well 
established, benefitting the Partners and Strata alike. This has 

been achieved whilst exceeding expectations, including substantial 
and tangible financial savings. The current Strata Business Plan 
(2021 and Beyond) reinforces the desire to continually improve and 

fulfil the critical role of enabling technology driven transformational 
change.  

Computer technologies continue to evolve at pace leading to big 
advances in the enabling of remote working for staff and in 
improving customer engagement. These areas alone have provided 

opportunities for the Partners to improve service delivery, 
engagement and create operational efficiencies. These are 
fundamental components in delivering services at a time when 

Council’s around the Country reach financial tipping points and as 
they struggle to deliver services with the resources available. 

  

Reduce 

Cost, 

Reduce 

Risk and 

Deliver a 

Capability 

and 

Capacity 

for Change. 

 

As stated in our July 2020 report, Strata have positioned themselves well to add 
value to the Partners and fulfilling the role of an effective strategic enabler and an 
‘agent for change’. The Covid 19 pandemic has also reinforced the importance of 

Strata as a vital ‘Business as Usual’ (BAU) enabler. 

Based on the risks Strata are currently exposed to, this report focusses on key 

strategic risks with a more granular review being commenced in March 2022.  

 

2 Audit Opinion 

  

 Reasonable 

Assurance 

There is a generally sound system of governance, risk management 
and control in place. Some issues, non-compliance or scope for 

improvement were identified which may put at risk the achievement of 

objectives in the area audited. 

 

 

 

  

page 61



 

 

4 of 24 

 

    

3 Executive Summary 

  

 
Entering its eighth year of operation, Strata is potentially facing its most challenging 

period since the early years and creation of a unified delivery platform upon  which 
it provides ICT services to the Partners. The chosen delivery model remains a 

robust and relevant to business change needs within extremely challenging 
financial constraints. Indeed, as highlighted within last year’s report, the partnering 
approach has become increasingly popular. 

The ongoing Covid 19 pandemic introduced unforeseeable challenges for Strata 
and the Partners alike. This has impacted the ability to evolve and deliver business 

change, with the provision of BAU service rightly being prioritised. This, however, 
has understandably created varying degrees of frustration within Strata and for the 
Partners. 

The departure of the Infrastructure & Support Team Manager in late 2021 and now 
the IT Director not only represents a significant loss of expertise and wisdom, but 

also potentially has a destabilising effect on Strata as a whole. The loss of the IT 
Director potentially undermines stability and creates uncertainty across the entire 
Strata business. Any reduction in staff morale represents a significant risk to 

organisational progress and the potential value adding benefits of Strata will 
decrease or be lost. 

The annual review of Cyber Security using the technical basis of the Governments 
Cyber Essentials scheme confirmed that Strata continue to provide a strong 
network security baseline on which the Partners can deliver their respective 

services. The absence of critical and high risk issues identified by the PSN Health 
Check and positive comments from the inspection all provide notable assurance. 

However, the level of threat posed by Cyber criminals in particular is concerning 
and this must be recognised by Strata and the Partners. 

The Cyber risk environment has changed considerably since Strata’s inception, 

and it is imperative that all organisations suitably reflect this in mitigating strategies 
and operational processes. The importance of this cannot be overstated due to the 

high level of reliance of the Partners upon technology to provide essential services 
and deliver essential business change. 

The Log4Shell incident that impacted Strata during December 2021 provided 

assurance that Strata have the necessary processes and capabilities to respond in 
a timely and effective manner to potentially damaging security incidents. It also 

served as a relatively pain free reminder that there are endless computerised 
vulnerabilities that are exploited by a wide range of would-be attackers.  

A Freedom of Information request by a UK privacy group found that 114 councils 

experienced at least one cyber-attack between 2013 and 2017. However, it is the 
three high profile local government ransomware attacks occurring in the past three 

years that provide the starkest picture of the impact of a major cyber security 
compromise.  

The ransomware attacks on Copeland, Redcar & Cleveland (Redcar) and Hackney 

Borough Councils serve as a warning that Local Authorities must not stand still but 
continue to strengthen and evolve their security operations and strategies. Without 

doing so the Partners risk sleep walking into a major security incident that would 

page 62



 

 

5 of 24 

 

    

cause significant disruption to services beyond the bounds of the individual Partner 
Council’s and impact the members of the local community. In financial terms, the 
cost of recovering after such a major cyber-attack could create in unaffordable 

budgetary impacts.  

We are yet to fully understand the extent of the Gloucestershire attack that 

occurred just prior to Christmas 2021. However, the attack used ‘sleeper malware’ 
that made its way into the local authority's system embedded in an email that had 
been sent to a council officer. 

The question needs to be asked of the Partners “how would you deliver services 
without your network being available?”. Business Continuity Planning (BCP) 

exercises commonly reveal that organisations and individual service areas 
incorrectly see cyber BCP as an IT Department/ Service responsibility.  

Within its Policy Themes for 2021, SOCITM* identifies the value of partnering, 

collaboration and sharing proven best practice with both the Service design and 
Transformation and, Modernising ICT service delivery themes. The message 

highlights that by combining financial and knowledge resources in an effective and 
well governed manner, authorities can optimise service delivery and modernisation 
opportunities.  

In establishing Strata in 2014, the Partners established a delivery platform that 
provides significant opportunities to take advantage of the strengths it offers. 

Despite seven years having elapsed since Strata was established, no combined 
ICT Roadmap exists, which undermines the ability to obtain best value for money 
from Strata.  

As a minimum, a combined ICT Roadmap that includes core enterprise 
requirements such as data storage, communication and, key operational drivers to 
achieve value for money, must be in place. The recently created Digital Strategy 

provides an opportunity for the Partners to identify opportunities for greater 
technological alignment. However, if the Partners cannot agree upon a combined 

and collaborative IT Road Map, then serious consideration must be given to how 
the current strategic and operational weaknesses this creates can be best 
managed. 

Teignbridge District Council (TDC) have largely completed the first stage of a 
project to implement Microsoft Office 365 (M365), commissioning a specialist 

company to assist with service design and configuration. This resulted in 
disproportionally focussed and consumed resource however this should assist the 
other Partners as M365 will need to be delivered to a greater or lesser extent to 

both of them. 

The M365 platform does provide many opportunities to modernise operational 

processes to bring about much needed transformational business change. 
However, the overall platform, and the range of potential service options and 
configurations it offers, is vast and complex. It is therefore key that the M365 

project must not deliver a collection of technologies, but a platform that's service 
design and configuration that is secure and drives efficiency and improved service 

delivery. Crucially, it would benefit Strata and all of the Partners if a collaborative 
approach to identifying business goals, functional requirements and opportunities 
is achieved, with this delivered sooner rather than later. 

page 63



 

 

6 of 24 

 

    

There are significant security and information governance risks associated with 
poor M365 configuration and practices, hence it is critically important that both 
financial and resource investments are made to ensure risks are understood and 

mitigated. 

* .Socitm is the professional network for digital leaders in the transformation of local public 
services. It is the membership association for these professionals – those who work in local and 
central government – as well as the broader public and third sectors, and suppliers to those 
sectors. 

4 Observations and Findings 

The Cyber Security Table of Disparity  

  

  Partner Councils Cyber Criminals   

Governance 
Arrangements  

Complex, bureaucratic and 
slow to respond.  

Clear, autocratic and 
responsive.  

Business 
Objectives  

Statutory, moral and 
complex.  

Financial gain.  

Financial 
Resources   

Reducing and difficult to 
allocate to meet specific 

granular service objectives.  

Growing, pooled and 

allocated as required to 
achieve financial gain.   

Time Resources  Reducing and increasingly 
pressurised.  

Allocated as required to 
meet with objectives.  

Technological 
Resources  

  

Cost limited and allocated to 
meet specific business 

needs.   

Able to take advantage of 
rapid advances in 

computing power.  

The Changing Cyber Risk Environment  

Strata and the Partners must learn from the growing catalogue of high profile cyber-
attacks, paying particular attention to the ever increasing use of ransomware. This 

goes beyond acknowledging their occurrence and being aware of the details 
surrounding these significant incidents. They confirm increased levels of frequen cy, 

complexity and, for those perpetrating them, profitability. 

Strata benefit from having individuals who have been part of regional information 
security and management bodies and communities that create a high level of 

awareness of current incidents, trends and risks. However, DAP consider that, in 
line with many organisations, the level of understanding within the Partners is 

unlikely to reflect the current level of risk.  

Globally, cyber-crime is already more profitable than the drugs trade and its low risk 
high reward nature will continue to encourage an ever increasing proliferation. 

Ransomware in particular is an increasingly profitable criminal activity and is fuelled 
by private sector companies generally calculating that it’s more cost effective to pay 

out. It is therefore imperative to understand the resources available for cyber 
criminals to continually advance their capabilities.  

The position is now so serious that a global coalition of technology companies have 

page 64



 

 

7 of 24 

 

    

called for “aggressive and urgent action”. Microsoft, Amazon the FBI and the 
National Crime Agency (UK) have joined the Ransomware Task Force in giving 50 
recommendations to governments around the world.  

All organisations increasingly rely upon its computerised systems to provide modern 
digital services, administer key services, communicate with the public and create the 

efficiencies required within current financial constraints. This increase in 
technological reliance has been incremental and so, as such, the understanding of 
the risks and rewards associated with greater technological reliance has been 

largely overlooked.   

There also needs to be a reflection on the progressive split access to some 

systems, where some are in the ‘cloud’, wh ich is systems and data held in third 
party data centres and needing a stable internet, and others operating from the local 
(Strata) environment.  Both have their strengths and weaknesses, however without 

a well planned design, in the event of an internet or computer network failure this 
could result in challenges to access the complete suite of systems needed to deliver 

the key services. 

The true level of cyber threat is naturally only really understood by security 
professionals and a limited number of IT Managers and infrastructure engineers. It 

is, therefore, important that Strata continue to highlight the true nature and impact of 
a successful cyber-attack so that appropriate governance, communication and 

funding are consummate with the overall risk.  

The responsibility for keeping an organisation Cyber secure resides with all within 
an organisation. In order to ensure that this is achieved, corporate leadership must 

provide a strong top down message based on a level of understanding that allows 
for risks to be properly considered and informed decisions to be made with regard to 
mitigating actions. 

Information Security Governance  

The ability to deliver modern local authority services in a cost effective and efficient 

way is almost totally reliant upon its IT infrastructure and business solutions. Despite 
this, many local authorities have not fully recognised this reliance within their 
Information Governance and IT Security governance structures, often with a wide 

variety of approaches taken.  

Individual services within the Partner Councils are overseen and governed by senior 

managers who are subject area experts and who understand how they can best 
operate with the resources they have. Since all IT Security expertise resides within 
Strata, there is a real and developing risk that information security understanding 

and decisions are not fully informed. Strata must continue to effectively convey a 
strong message so that the Partners recognise the level of risk posed by the need to 

modernise how we obtain, store and use information presents within the current 
cyber risk environment.  

Strata operate processes to appropriately control the introduction of new solutions, 

whether as part of the Data Protection Impact Assessments (DPIA) or as part of the 
project management and business change processes. However, these ensure 

security on a granular level. The current and evolving level of strategic and 
operational threat heightens the risk of sleepwalking into a significant cyber incident. 
An assessment of the effectiveness of Information Security governance should be 

page 65



 

 

8 of 24 

 

    

conducted to ensure that Leadership Teams at all Partner Councils are sufficiently 
informed of the cyber risk environment in which they operate. 

Organisational Risks  

The level of both costs and service disruption associated with a major cyber incident 
would make an already resource critical position worse. The severity and range of 

the impacts are such that it should be recorded within each Partner Council’s 
Strategic Risk Register and the risk appetite formally recorded. The high -level 
granular risks include those associated with:  

• The fulfilment of their statutory and moral obligations.  
• The ability to deliver statutory and non-statutory services.  
• Making payments to service providers, suppliers, those in receipt of Housing 

Benefit.  
• Procuring/ paying for operationally critical goods such as fuel and vehicle 

maintenance supplies.  
• Denial or Loss of Information Assets.  

• Receiving and processing income.  
• The compiling of the Council’s accounts and Housing Benefit (HB) subsidy 

claims.  
• Reputational damage.  

• Short and Medium term financial impacts.  

There is no doubt that suffering a major cyber-attack would damage the Partner 

Councils reputation, but the reputational damage to Strata would inevitably also 
have a significant impact. The Partners rely on Strata for security expertise, even 
though it is they that have the overriding legal and moral responsibilities to the local 

citizens that they serve.  

It is in Strata’s interest to maintain its reputation for being a secure IT service 

provider. Failure to do so could significantly impact its future viability as an IT 
service provider. It is, therefore, important that Strata provide effective guardianship 
to inform and protect the Partners from the growing Cyber threat and that, in turn, 

the Partners understand and respect the need for Strata to fulfil this critical role. 

Lessons Learnt  

The key message from the October 2021 Hackney cyber-attack is that a local 
authority whose IT security was of a high standard can be operationally crippled by 
a successful cyber compromise. It could be argued that Hackney had a much more 

prioritised and well-funded approach to safeguarding their network and information 
systems prior to the attack than the Partners/ Strata currently have.  

Hackney had top-down buy-in from Senior management, underpinned by the 
existence of a director level Information Governance Group and a Chief Information 
Officer (CIO) led ICT Security Group. Of note, is that Hackney had conducted a 

ransomware exercise during 2016, at very least demonstrating an understanding of 
the risk. 

Another key message is that the exploit utilised a sequence of relatively low risk 
vulnerabilities and a limited number of operational errors. The level of expertise and 
skill demonstrated by those conducting the attack was highly impressive. The 

page 66



 

 

9 of 24 

 

    

window of opportunity for conducting reconnaissance, seeding and detonating the 
attack was extremely limited. How do the Strata ensure that this level of risk is 
mitigated? 

However, all of the good governance and operational practices were undermined 
due to the failure of an individual technician to comply with expected good practice 

and having access privileges that could be considered to be excessive for the role 
being undertaken. 

In the light of the Hackney incident, both Strata and the Partners must consider the 

following:  

• How extensive are your current security assurances and how will you identify 

knock on / combination risks?  
• How do you know that your policies are fully implemented all the time?  
• How extensive could an attack be and how will you recover (suggest using a 

range of scenarios)?  
• How well do you understand the data you hold and associated potential 

risks? 
• How are you using data retention management to reduce risk?  

• What is your organisations risk appetite and insurance position against (a 
range of) these risks?  

• Are all staff sufficiently cyber aware and understand and recognise cyber 
risks and potential cyber-attacks? 

Minimising the Software Estate  

There are material inefficiencies in maintaining too many business solutions for the 
Partners. Within Strata much needed capacity can be consumed that could be 

better utilised, including undertaking security or project related tasks.  

The rationalising and alignment of the combined software estates to create financial 
savings and efficiencies has been one of the business change drivers for the 

Partners since the creation of Strata. However, the reduction of the Partners 
software estate is not only fundamentally important to the reduction of costs and 

improved information management, but also information and network security.  

There are four clear security weaknesses in having too large a software estate, 

namely:  

• Knowledge - The expertise required to maintain a wide range of business 

solutions securely.  
• Volume - The variety of middleware required to make them operate (often 

with known vulnerabilities).  
• Capacity - Increased numbers of BAU and scan vulnerability remedial actions 

created consume resources.  

• Patching – The higher the number of differing business systems, the easier it 
is to miss critical patching of the solution or supplementary software. 

 

 

 

page 67



 

 

10 of 24 

 

    

Cyber Security Cyber Essentials Review 

The following table summarises our assurance opinions on each of the areas 
covered during the audit. These combine to provide the overall assurance 

opinion at Section 2. Definitions of the assurance opinion ratings can be found 
in the Appendices. 

1. Boundary firewalls and internet gateways - 
Information, applications and computers within the 

organisation’s internal networks are protected against 
unauthorised access and disclosure from the internet, 
using boundary firewalls, internet gateways or 

equivalent network devices. 

Reasonable 
Assurance* 

2. Secure Configuration - Computers and network 
devices are configured to reduce the level of inherent 
vulnerabilities and provide only the services required 

to fulfil their role.  

Reasonable 
Assurance 

3. Access Control - User accounts, particularly those 
with special access privileges (e.g. administrative 
accounts) are assigned only to authorised individuals, 

managed effectively and provide the minimum level of 
access to applications, computers and networks.  

Reasonable 
Assurance 

4. Malware protection - Computers that are exposed to 
the internet are protected against malware infection 

using malware protection software.  

Reasonable 
Assurance 

5. Patch Management - Software running on computers 

and network devices are kept up-to-date and have the 
latest security patches installed.  

Reasonable 

Assurance 

6. Backup & Business Continuity - Backup procedures 
exist to safeguard the system and system data and 

provide for an appropriate 'point in time' restoration 
that accords to business needs. 

Reasonable 
Assurance 

 

 

The level of control in the six areas reviewed continues to provide Reasonable 
Assurance (*previously defined as ‘Good Standard’). DAP continue to use and 
advocate the National Cyber Security Centres’ (NCSC) Cyber Essentials scheme 

and it is pleasing to note that Strata intend to obtain the Cyber Essential Plus 
accreditation. The involves an independent assessment by an NCSC approved 

company to confirm compliance with the schemes control framework. It is 
envisaged that best value could be provided by timetabling DAP’s work in this area 
to preclude any Cyber Essentials Plus assessment.  

Strata’s latest Public Sector Network (PSN) Certification was achieved on 1st July 
2021 providing a further level of assurance from what constitutes a mandatory and 

independent security assessment. Furthermore, no high or critical (risk) issues 
were identified, other than the ‘end of life’ Server 2008 issues, with the PSN 

page 68



 

 

11 of 24 

 

    

assessor commenting that good compared to other organisations. 

The extended use of LogPoint by Strata to log and record Firewall changes and 
send alerts is considered by DAP to be good practice. The use of LogPoint for 

other intelligence also provides further assurance. The LogPoint system was 
upgraded during 2021 which provides ‘SOAR’ (security orchestration, automation 

and response) capability is planned to be trialled once capacity allows. This should 
better identify cyber threats to the network, in particular unusual events. 

The management of high-privilege network accounts provide some compensating 

controls to help mitigate some of the risks associated with this area. To further 
manage the associated risks, Strata have significantly reduced the number of the 

highest privilege accounts providing least privilege accounts in their place targeted 
to each purpose.  

A minimal number of ‘end of support’ servers still exist, with appropriate mitigations 

being put in place to ensure continued PSN certif ication. The network server 
environment benefits from ongoing investment with SQL Server 2016 and 2019 

being introduced. The continuing upgrade of network infrastructure is an essential  
BAU component in ensuring that the Partners respective networks operate on an 
up-to-date platform that is both secure and optimises the opportunity to potentially 

take advantage of new technologies. 

The monitoring of network logs is conducted to allow for more effective monitoring 

to supplement the alerts and warnings already embedded within existing software 
and workflow configuration. Strata also possesses the capability to use log data 
available to conduct effective analysis to identify potentially unusual activity or 

anomalies.  

Patch Management, Firewall and Malware arrangements utilise a combination of 
well-known solutions. The Head of Security and Compliance maintains an up-to-

date awareness of current threats and mitigations, which allows for security and 
operational needs to be kept in balance.  

The need to ensure that software solutions operate using the most recent ‘patches’ 
and updates available can’t be over emphasised. The lack of Critical and High risk 
issues identified as part of the latest PSN Health Check help provide good 

assurance that the essential patch management processes are effective. This is 
largely due to performing monthly network scans which has significant benefits in 

safeguarding the network. 

Whilst not part of the Cyber Essentials scheme, incident response is a critical 
component in ensuring that when incidents occur, they are dealt with in the most 

appropriate and timely manner. Two incidents have occurred during the timeframe 
of this report, with one relating to the deployment of a new mobile solution and the 

other a global software vulnerability event. In both instances the response, 
remediation and organisational learning were of a high standard. 

 

 

 

page 69



 

 

12 of 24 

 

    

Strategy  

There are no ‘silver bullets’ when it comes to selecting a local authority's IT Service 
delivery model, but the current trend is to retain a higher degree of control through 

in-house or local authority partnering arrangements. This helps demonstrate that 
the Partners positioned themselves strongly in creating Strata when they did and 

should be ahead of the game in fulfilling current best practice. However, despite 
Strata now being well established with strong technical foundations, the Partners 
are yet to fully optimise its value.  

Having three ‘masters’ was always the greatest challenge, and risk, to the success 
of the chosen delivery model. The existence of three separate organisations, with 

their own respective leadership, strengths, weaknesses and cultures, creates 
significant strategic differences. However, the services they deliver and the 
extreme financial pressures they are exposed to binds them through common 

future challenges. Closer alignment is an inevitability, either via organisational 
change or financial necessity. 

DAP highlighted in June 2016 that there were clear strengths that the chosen 
strategic direction that continues to benefit the three founder partners. These 
included:     

• Assisting in protecting the local economy through local employment: 
• Mitigating financial risks associated with entering an unsustainable      

outsourcing contract and returning tangible savings: 
• Retains the ability to make considered and timely decisions about   future 

service delivery and retain multiple delivery options: 
• Ensures partners have control and better transparency of ICT costs: 
• Ensures that partners have direct input on information governance and   

security arrangements: 
• Offers some opportunity for leverage in the marketplace. 

The approach taken by the Partners has successfully fulfilled all the advantages 
listed in our 2016 report. However, having created a robust and modernised core 

network services the value of collaborative change now becomes of paramount 
importance. DAP have increasingly highlighted the change in Strata’s value to the 
Partners, with emphasis on its value as the key enabler for collaborative 

transformational change.  

It is fair to say that whilst an extremely solid baseline from which to offer BAU and 

business change services has been established, Strata is not being utilised fully as 
an enabler for cross partnership change (using best practice). The approach to 
achieving transformation business change remains too disparate to fully exploit the 

opportunities that have been created.  

The current Strata Business Plan SWOT analysis is well constructed and identifies 

weaknesses and threats that negatively impact the ability to optimise 
transformational digitalised change. DAP would like to highlight the following four 
identified issues: 

• Limited IT visioning or needs analysis coming from the three authorities, 

Strata expected to be reactive, without any clear authority lead IT Strategy  

page 70



 

 

13 of 24 

 

    

• Lack of roadmap knowledge on installed products and solutions 

• Lack of a clear IT Strategy for each of the three authorities meaning that 

Strata do not understand the direction of travel of the authorities.  

• One of the partner authorities choosing to take a different direction in terms of 

IT than the other two authorities leading to Strata needing to deliver a two-tier 

IT platform / service. 

Strata continues to demonstrate value to the Partners in the way of tangible 
financial savings that comfortably exceed those forecasted within the original 

Business Case produced in 2014. The delivery of £3.65m of savings over the last 
six years of operation for a relatively small IT service is to be commended, 
especially since the service delivery costs are typical using industry benchmarking. 

The Business Plan (2021 & Beyond) is once again of a high standard with a 
notable level of measurable detail, including that provided for how services will 

continually improve perform the role of an effective enabler for transformational 
change. Strata’s monthly performance monitoring and reporting continues to be of 
a high standard, providing the Partners with meaningful data and metrics. This is 

crucial in helping to remove unhelpful and misplaced subjectivity which negatively 
impacts customer perception and staff morale alike. 

The current IT Director left Strata at the beginning of April 2022, which follows the 
departure of the Infrastructure & Support Team Manager in late 2021. This comes 
at a time of diminishing morale and frustration within the management team and 

wider Strata organisation as demonstrated in annual staff surveys. Failure to 
identify this as a significant risk to Strata and the Partners would potentially result 

in creating operational deficiencies in capacity and knowledge. This, in turn, would 
have a disruptive effect on BAU service provision, business change and projects 
alike. 

Strategically, Strata has benefitted from the leadership and expertise that the 
management team has provided over the past seven years. It is essential that the 

Board recognise this and ensure that all appropriate steps are taken to support 
Strata’s management team and help safeguard future morale and the culture of the 
organisation, which has underpinned the success of Strata. 

Service Design and Transformation 

The absence of a truly joined up strategic IT Roadmap demonstrates a lack of 

collective appetite or, full realisation of how to optimise value for money from 
Strata. Whilst DAP consider there are good practices in respect of administering 
business change and project work, there are few examples of truly collaborative 

transformation projects that would provide material organisational changes to 
safeguard future service delivery. This also limits the opportunity to link associated 

functional requirements, so limiting the opportunity to identify processes and 
solutions that can be re-used in other end to end service delivery designs. 

A ‘Digital Strategy’ has now been developed by the three authorities to define a 

roadmap as to where the authorities wish to move in relation to how best the 
authorities support their citizens with Digital technologies and channels over the 
coming years. The challenge is now to map the existing IT environment against this 

page 71



 

 

14 of 24 

 

    

Digital Strategy to identify what projects Strata need to undertake to provide the IT 
environment upon which the authorities can deliver their Digital vision. Strata had 
engaged a 3rd party (Agilisys) to undertake a review of the organisation’s Digital 

readiness, the results of this exercise were presented back to the authorities during 
the first quarter of 2022/23. 

Investment in good service design helps deliver value over the full service lifecycle 
as the business solution and associated processes create efficiency and save 
revenue costs. Whenever possible, Strata’s finite resources should be focused on 

the delivery of projects that deliver the most value for money, and preferably, to all 
three partner authorities. 

TDC have identified M365 as a means of transforming core functions within the 
Authority and are well on the way to completing their first phase. This, along with 
other TDC projects, has resulted in the consumption of considerable and 

disproportionate Strata resources. Whilst it may be considered that TDC are acting 
as a pathfinder, it is difficult to see how a configuration blueprint that truly fulfils the 

specific business needs of all the Partners can be achieved in this way without 
continued review and input from all through the project lifecycle.  

The number of ways that M365 can be used for communicating and sharing 

information or documentation is considerable, which from an information 
governance perspective is concerning. The Devon Information Security Partnership 

(DISP) has identified M365 configuration as potentially introducing significant risks.  

DISP includes information governance and security practitioners from local 
government, health and emergency services in the region and the membership 

have raised a wide variety of challenges and concerns. These are significant 
enough for the subject to be replacing the GDPR as a key agenda item, not least 
because of the clear risks to organisational data protection compliance. 

Being the most popular ‘office suite’ in the world, the selection of M365 as a 
solution is both common and understandable. However, it must be understood that 

in not looking at end to end processes and undertaking a competitive procurement 
process creates a range of risks and project weaknesses. The review of a range of 
methods and means of providing end to end solutions is crucially lost, which can 

limit the opportunity to understand the variety of ways core business functions can 
be provided. This can limit the potential for radical and cost effective change as 

well the resultant service configuration or, for configuration to be myopic in nature. 

Assuming TDC’s M365 project is perceived as being successful, Strata resources 
will be consumed through a greater number of incidents and problems during the 

implementation, release, and early life phases.  This will impact implementation, 
support and training resources. This is clearly inefficient and highly disruptive for 

both Strata and The Partners and a likely contributor to dissatisfaction on all sides.  

As a ‘fallback’ it is imperative to capture all lessons learnt in respective of M365 so 
that any potential future implementations within ECC and EDDC benefit from the 

knowledge and experience gained during the TDC deployment. However, it would 
be far more effective to ensure that all Partners had a defined and collaborative 

design that ensured that respective organisational requirements were appropriately 
balanced and delivered. 

page 72



 

 

15 of 24 

 

    

The delivery of solutions utilising Software as a Service (SAAS) and hosted 
environments requires an understanding of different and additional risks that 
require different thinking and mitigating controls. There is a clear distinction 

between project risks and the risks associated with a specific IT solution and the 
operational end to end process. The later assessment is fundamental to ensuring 

that the organisations data assets are appropriately safeguarded in live operation.  

Transition/ Change Management must also recognise risks effectively, particularly 
as IT platforms continue to evolve at pace to meet with changing business 

requirements. The need to assess risks effectively within each discipline, and 
merge them where appropriate, must not be lost. It would, therefore, be of value to 

all of the Partners to manage and mitigate these risks through collaborative effort 
and mirrored end to end processes. The current project framework allows for this, 
but regular review of its effectiveness in managing risk would be beneficial.  

 The detailed findings and recommendations regarding these issues and less 
important matters are described in the Appendices. Recommendations have been 

categorised to aid prioritisation. Definitions of the priority categories and the 
assurance opinion ratings are also given in the Appendices to this report. 

4 Assurance Opinion on Specific Sections 

 
The following table summarises our assurance opinions on each of the areas 

covered during the audit. These combine to provide the overall assurance opinion 
at Section 2.  Definitions of the assurance opinion ratings can be found in the 
Appendices. 

 Risks / Areas Covered Level of Assurance 

 1 Strategy & Governance Reasonable Assurance 

 2 Service Delivery Reasonable Assurance 

 3 Cyber Essentials Reasonable Assurance 

  

 The findings and recommendations in relation to each of these areas are discussed 
in the "Detailed Audit Observations and Action Plan" appendix. This appendix 
records the action plan agreed by management to enhance the internal control 

framework and mitigate identified risks where agreed. 

 

 

 Inherent Limitations 

  

 The opinions and recommendations contained within this report are based on our 
examination of restricted samples of transactions / records and our discussions with 

officers responsible for the processes reviewed. 

 

page 73



 

 

16 of 24 

 

    

 Acknowledgements 

  

 We would like to express our thanks and appreciation to all those who provided 

support and assistance during the course of this audit. 

  

 Tony Rose 
Head of Partnership 

 

page 74



 

 OFFICIAL Strata IT Audit Report  

 

17 of 24 

 
Appendix A 

 

 
Detailed Audit Observations and Action Plan 

 

 

 1. Area Covered: Strategy & Governance  Level of Assurance  

 Opinion Statement: 
Reasonable 
Assurance 

 

 

 

 

 

 The Strategic approach remains both valid and in line with the concept of greater partnering and collaboration. The latest Business 
Plan is of a high quality and assists in detailing and measuring the value of services delivered. However, the level of partnering and 
collaboration limits the value of the delivery model and fails to take advantage of the opportunities available. 

The ever increasing cyber threat changes the risk environment in which Strata and The Partners operate and essential 
transformational change is delivered. There is an urgent need for all organisations to re-evaluate their respective information 
governance structures, with particular regard to IT security. 

 

 No. Observation and implications  

 1.1 The loss of the IT Director and the Infrastructure & Support Team Manager potentially undermines the stability that Strata has enjoyed over the past 
five years. This also comes at a time of much frustration and diminishing moral. The loss of other members of the management team or, other key 
staff, represents both an operational and potentially strategic risk. 

 

  Recommendation Priority Management Response  

(Including action plan and responsible officer) 

 

 1.1.1 The Strata Board should oversee current IT Directors exit interview. High A transition plan has been drawn up and presented to the board 
enabling identified key activities to be handed over to either 
members of the management team or to the incoming Interim 
Director of IT and Digital Transformation. 

The outgoing IT Director will complete an exit questionnaire and 
will be requesting an exit interview as part of the process. 

Actioned: March 2022 

 

 1.1.2 The reasons for the Head of Infrastructure & Support’s  departure must 
be captured as part of the IT Directors exit process. 

Medium An exit form was completed by the Infrastructure and Support 
team manager and submitted to the IT Director and HR for 
analysis. 

 

page 75



 

 OFFICIAL Strata IT Audit Report  

 

18 of 24 

Actioned: October 2021 

 1.1.3 Upon the appointment of the new IT Director, the new incumbent should 
capture and formally report back to the Board Strata’s Management 
Team’s observations and concerns for the future of Strata. 

Medium It is expected that the incoming Director of IT and Digital 
Transformation will undertake a review of Strata within the first 
100 days, capturing initial observations and concerns, with 
Strategic and operational recommendations. This analysis would 

then be presented back to the Strata Board. 

 Actioned: March 2022 

 

 No.   

 1.2 The risk environment is continually changing due to the increasing Cyber threat. The level of cyber risk is such should that organisations should be 
suitably recognised this within their respective risk management processes. It is of utmost importance that senior management within the Partner 
Council’s properly understand the risks and that investment and budget are appropriately maintained.  

 

  Recommendation Priority Management Response  

(Including action plan and responsible officer) 

 

 1.2.1 In the light of the current Cyber threat, Strata must re-evaluate the 
suitability of information governance structures within the respective 
Partners and if the level of support, advice, and influence that Strata 
currently provide is sufficient. 

Strata should ensure that their role in providing the Partners with 
specific information security expertise is appropriately recognised. 

 

High The Partners and Strata have agreed to use the NCSC Incident 
in a Box series of scenarios to better understand the various 
needs and interactions of information governance.  

One iteration of this exercise has been undertaken with the three 
partners and Strata all participating, including the BCP leads 
from each authority. 

 

 

 1.2.2 Strata and the Partners should ensure that the Cyber threat is 
appropriately recorded within their respective corporate risk registers. 

High Cyber threat is recorded within the Strata Risk register which is 
maintained by the Strata Head of Security and Compliance. Risk 
is reviewed as a standing item at each Strata Board meeting.  
The Council also hold Cyber as a corporate risk in their own 
registers. 

 

 

 

 

page 76



 

 OFFICIAL Strata IT Audit Report  

 

19 of 24 

 2. Area Covered: Service Delivery (Service Design) 
 

Level of Assurance  

 Opinion Statement: 

Whilst it is understandable that a single Partner Council will choose a specific transformational path that fits with their own respective 
business needs, this also potentially erodes the Strata’s value as an enabler for change. Furthermore, this potentially creates a range 
of risks to itself, Strata and the two other Partners since resources are being disproportionally consumed. This not only applies to the 
project phase, but potentially for the lifetime of the M365 solution if the two remaining Partners choose an alternative solution or 
differing elements of the M365 application suite. 

The TDC M365 project must not deliver a collection of technologies, but a platform that's service design and configuration that is 
secure and drives efficiency and improved service delivery. Crucially, it would benefit Strata and all the Partners if a collaborative 
approach to identifying business goals, functional requirements and opportunities is achieved. Strata are a member of the Devon 
Information Partnership (DISP) who recognise the potential risks that poor configuration represents. It would be highly benef icial for the 

shared knowledge within DISP to help inform the TDC project. 

Strata and the Partners have made progress in converging software solutions, but the security aspect of having to maintain large 
numbers of software solutions must be increasingly factored into decision making. The use of Multi Factor Authentication (MFA) 
solutions is becoming more common and represents an effective means of mitigating the considerable risks associated with ongoing 
poor password practices by network users. 

Reasonable 
Assurance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 No. Observation and implications  

 2.1 Strata are a member of DISP who are to include M365 as a standing agenda item in the short and medium term. Due to the number and range of 
organisations attending, this shared understanding and learning is an invaluable source of information regarding configuration and associated risks. 

 

  Recommendation Priority Management Response 

(Including Action Plan and responsible officer) 

 

 2.1.1 All intelligence obtained from attendance at DISP should be provided to 
the project team. Where necessary, information should be used to 
inform/ revise the Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA). 

Medium DISP is a valuable resource however this has been 
supplemented by technology and security specialists to increase 
the delivery and governance capability to better inform the 
project.   

 

Target Date: Ongoing 

 

 No. Observations and implications  

 2.2 The number and variety of business solutions administered by Strata not only creates operational pressures and inefficiencies but heightens the 
security risks.  

 

page 77



 

 OFFICIAL Strata IT Audit Report  

 

20 of 24 

  Recommendation Priority Management Response 

(Including Action Plan and responsible officer) 

 

 2.2.1 Strata should continue to advocate convergence and rationalisation of 
the Partners software estates, further highlighting the security risk 
posed by maintaining high numbers of differing software solutions that 
all require varying knowledge and patching requirements. 

 

Medium Given the upcoming Digital drive which includes further adoption 
of hosted solutions, this would appear to be the appropriate 
vehicle to support these considerations and objectives. 

Target Date: Ongoing 

 

 No. Observations and implications  

 2.3 Most organisations struggle to ensure that their network users comply with password policies and comply with organisational policy and best practice 
initiatives.  

 

  Recommendations Priority Management Response 

(Including Action Plan and responsible officer) 

 

 2.3.1 Consider the introduction of additional security measures to supplement 
network and application passwords and use of MFA such as the use of 
biometric solutions such as Windows Hello. 

Medium  Biometrics could be considered but also come with real 
concerns on the use of personal data.  There is also the need to 
ensure that each biometric solutions False Rejection Rate and in 
particular False Acceptance Rate are suitable for the access 
needs. Windows Hello for Business relies on specific hardware. 

Target Date: Ongoing 

 

page 78



 

 OFFICIAL Strata IT Audit Report  

 

21 of 24 

 3. Area Covered: Cyber Essentials Review 
 

Level of Assurance  

 Opinion Statement:   

 The annual review continues to provide ‘Reasonable Assurance’* that the controls provided by Strata to mitigate against the most 
common cyber threats are effective. The intention to attain the Cyber Essentials Plus accreditation is also considered to a further 
positive. The requirement for a formal assessment by a duly accredited IT security assessor will not only provide further assurance, but 
also ensure that Strata is seen as a secure provider of IT services by potential would be partners. 

Good cyber security also requires robust and effective incident response processes to administer the impacts and remediations 
required following a security compromise. The two incidents that have occurred in recent months, evidence that Strata have the 
capability to respond and remediate effectively and appropriately. Furthermore, a high level of review and organisational learning was 
demonstrated.  

Reasonable 
Assurance 

 

 

 No. Observation and implications  

 3.1 In conducting the annual cyber security review the following observations, recommendations and opportunities have been identified.  

  Recommendation Priority Management response and action plan including responsible 

officer 
 

 3.1.1 There have been no Business Continuity tests conducted in the past 
twelve months with continual focus on Covid and Covid recovery. 

It is recommended that the planned Business Continuity and Disaster 
Recovery testing should resume at the earliest opportunity. 

High Cyber tests have now been prioritised above Business 
Continuity., However, it is becoming increasingly evident that 
Cyber can be considered an additional threat type, but that 
follows the BC approaches. An initial NCSC Exercise in a Box 
was undertaken in March 2022 with a commitment to take 
actions forward and complete further Exercise in a Box 
sessions. 

Target Date: Ongoing 

 

 3.1.2 The Server Build Standard 11 Checklist does not make specific 
reference to changing default passwords. However, it is noted that the 
form does require sign off by the Security Team.  

It is recommended that a prompt in the Server Build Standard 11 
Checklist is introduced to ensure that engineers consider and action 
any changes to default passwords and that this is checked as part of 
the sign off process. 

Low Server passwords are managed by LAPS for domain joined and 
otherwise for non-joined and the passwords are entered in the 
password system. It is noted that there is not a direct reference 
to changing the passwords and this can be added even though 
practice and vulnerability scanning does not show this to be an 
issue. 

 

Target date: Sep 2022 (checklist update) 

 

page 79



 

 OFFICIAL Strata IT Audit Report  

 

22 of 24 

 3.1.3 From April 1st, 2021, Strata have been informed of leavers via a feed 
from the Partners payroll systems (iTrent). However, there is not a 
common leaver processing place across all three clients.  

It is recommended that a standard/common process for identifying and 
processing leavers of each client organisation is introduced. 

Low Due to other commitments, especially those caused by Covid 
and the associated activities this low priority exercise to develop 
a common process has not been undertaken.    

 

There is an expectation that there will be a wider focus on 
processes within Strata over the next 12 months of which this 
will be one of. 

 

 3.1.3 There are two non-standard email routes. One relates to a company 
needing to route via M365 directly and the another supports the 
requirement for some members to have emails forwarded from Devon 
County Council (DCC) to their TDC account. It then becomes necessary 
for that individual to create DMARC exceptions. 

It is recommended that Request Management Response regarding 
confirmation/explanation that the level of email filtering for non-standard 
routed email is subject to adequate filtering (in line with/equivalent to 
standard routed email filtering). 

Low The company which needs M365 direct routing has limited and 
specific email requirements that we feel are mitigated.  

 

The DCC email account is reviewed and once that Councillor 
moves to M365 this option will need to be withdrawn as the 
filtering approach appears to be different at DCC resulting in 
additional threats being received but not managed as effectively 
as they are seen to come from a trusted source ‘DCC’ 

 

We have also implemented Trend Cloud One security that does 
a secondary scan of all email entering and existing M365. 

 

 3.1.4 At present Strata do not have a documented response plan(s) 
/Playbook for use in the response to a significant malware/ransomware 
incident. 

An incident response plan “playbook” should be developed for use 
when a significant incident (malware or other incident effecting IT 
Services) occurs. 

Low These are likely to be developed as part of the Incident in a Box 
exercises. The upgrade of Logpoint now includes SOAR 
capability, which provides automated threat response will also 
develop playbooks. 

 

Target Date: 31/03/2023 

 

 

 

page 80



 

 

 

23 of 24 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page  

Appendix B 

 

Definitions of Audit Assurance Opinion Levels 
 

Assurance Definition 

Substantial 
Assurance 

A sound system of governance, risk management and control exists, with 
internal controls operating effectively and being consistently applied to 
support the achievement of objectives in the area audited. 

Reasonable 

Assurance 

There is a generally sound system of governance, risk management and 

control in place. Some issues, non-compliance or scope for improvement 
were identified which may put at risk the achievement of objectives in the 
area audited. 

Limited Assurance Significant gaps, weaknesses or non-compliance were identified. 
Improvement is required to the system of governance, risk management and 
control to effectively manage risks to the achievement of objectives in the 
area audited. 

No Assurance Immediate action is required to address fundamental gaps, weaknesses or 
non-compliance identified. The system of governance, risk management and 
control is inadequate to effectively manage risks to the achievement of 
objectives in the area audited. 

 

Definition of Recommendation Priority 

 

Priority Definitions 

High A significant finding. A key control is absent or is being compromised; if not 
acted upon this could result in high exposure to risk. Failure to address could 
result in internal or external responsibilities and obligations not being met. 

Medium Control arrangements not operating as required resulting in a moderate 
exposure to risk. This could result in minor disruption of service, undetected 
errors or inefficiencies in service provision. Important recommendations made 
to improve internal control arrangements and manage identified risks. 

Low Low risk issues, minor system compliance concerns or process inefficiencies 
where benefit would be gained from improving arrangements. Management 
should review, make changes if considered necessary or formally agree to 
accept the risks.  These issues may be dealt with outside of the formal report 
during the course of the audit. 

Opportunity A recommendation to drive operational improvement which may enable 
efficiency savings to be realised, capacity to be created, support opportunity 
for commercialisation / income generation or improve customer experience.  
These recommendations do not feed into the assurance control environment. 

page 81



 

 

24 of 24 

1 of 1 

1 

 

   

 Confidentiality under the National Protective Marking Scheme  

   

 Marking Definitions  

 Official The majority of information that is created or processed by the public sector. 
This includes routine business operations and services, some of which could 
have damaging consequences if lost, stolen or published in the media, but 
are not subject to a heightened threat profile. 

 

 Official: Sensitive A limited subset of OFFICIAL information could have more damaging 
consequences if it were lost, stolen or published in the media.  This subset of 
information should still be managed within the ‘OFFICIAL’ classification tier, 
but may attract additional measures to reinforce the ‘need to know’.  In such 
cases where there is a clear and justifiable requirement to reinforce the ‘need 
to know’, assets should be conspicuously marked: ‘OFFICIAL–SENSITIVE’.  
All documents marked OFFICIAL: SENSITIVE must be handled appropriately 
and with extra care, to ensure the information is not accessed by 
unauthorised people. 

 

 

page 82



Report to: Audit and Governance Committee 

 

Date of Meeting 17 November 2022 

Document classification: Part A Public Document 

Exemption applied: None 

Review date for release N/A 

 

 

Review of the Local Code of Corporate Governance  

 

Report summary: 

The Council’s Code of Corporate Governance, which sets out our overarching approach to our 

corporate governance arrangements, was adopted by Cabinet in February 2019 and is now due 
for review. It is a requirement of the Constitution that Cabinet consult with Audit & Governance in 
relation to the approval, implementation and monitoring of the Code of Corporate Governance. 

Having reviewed the Code, it is recommended to the Committee that they recommend to Cabinet 
to continue to use the current Code unchanged with a further review in two years’ time. 

Is the proposed decision in accordance with: 

Budget    Yes ☒ No ☐ 

Policy Framework  Yes ☒ No ☐  

Recommendation: 

That the Committee recommend to Cabinet that the current Local Code of Corporate 
Governance should continue without amendment and be reviewed again in two years’ time, 

unless circumstances require an earlier review.  

 

Reason for recommendation: 

The Council regularly reviews the policies, codes and procedures that govern the way we operate. 
The Code of Corporate Governance (see background link) provides the overarching framework for 
the Council’s Corporate Governance. It was last updated in December 2016 following revised 

guidance from CIPFA/SOLACE and reviewed in January / February 2019. It is not a standalone 
document but rather identifies the key principles that the Council agrees to follow in establishing 

our governance framework. It is supported by a number of other documents, being our key 
policies, which in combination seek to ensure that the Council has systems, processes, culture 
and values that we engage with and act by and are accountable in respect of. Ultimately the Code 

is about ensuring that the Council does the right things, in the right way for the right people in a 
timely, inclusive, open, honest and accountable manner. 

The effectiveness of the Code of Corporate Governance is monitored through a number of routes, 
including the production of the Annual Governance Assurance Statement which comes before this 
Committee for approval. Section 11 of the Code details other mechanisms which contribute on an 

ongoing basis to monitoring the overall effectiveness. In that regard the role of both our internal 
and external auditors plays an important part. At the 16th March 2022 Audit & Governance 

Committee meeting, Grant Thornton presented their Audit Findings Report 2021. This report did 
not conclude that the Council’s Annual Governance Statement did not confirm to the CIPFA / 
Solace 2016 guidance on disclosures or that there was anything misleading or inconsistent in it 

when considered against their findings. Audits are now expected to look in greater detail at the 
page 83

Agenda Item 12



issue of value for money including the Council’s wider arrangements in relation to improving 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness, financial stability and governance. The report identified a 

risk in relation to the Council’s governance arrangements in responding to results from a Health 
and Safety Survey. It was noted that this risk would be considered further. At the 28th July 2022 

Audit & Governance meeting, Grant Thornton presented their Annual Report 2020/21. This 
considered in more detail the value for money issue and ultimately concluded that there were ‘no 
significant weaknesses in arrangements’ in relation to improving economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness, financial stability and governance, although there were a series of improvements 
identified. At the same meeting of the Audit & Governance Committee, SWAP presented their 

Internal Audit Annual Assurance Opinion 2021/22. The report recognises that ‘ Internal Audit 
function plays a central role in corporate governance by providing assurance to the Annual Audit, 
Governance and Standards Committee, looking over financial controls and checking on the probity 

of the organisation. The 2021-22 Annual Audit Plan provided independent and objective 
assurance on EDDC Internal Control Environment. This work supported the Annual Governance 

Statement.’. The opinion noted that ‘there is generally a sound system of governance, risk 
management and control in place’ and gave a ‘Reasonable Assurance opinion’.   

There have been no concerns raised regarding the suitability or effectiveness of the Code of 

Corporate Governance and there has been no legislative or guidance changes that would 
necessitate any revisions being made.   

It is therefore considered that the adopted Code of Corporate Governance continues to reflect the 
current standard as to what constitutes good governance and that the Council’s approach remains 
relevant and effective. The monitoring processes identified in the Code will continue including the 

continued publication of the Annual Governance Assurance Statement. 

For the above reasons it is recommended that the adopted Code continues to be of effect without 

amendment with a further review to be carried out by the Monitoring Officer in two years’ time.  

 

Officer: Henry Gordon Lennox, Strategic Lead Governance and Licensing & Monitoring Officer 

 

Portfolio(s) (check which apply): 

☐ Climate Action and Emergency Response 

☐ Coast, Country and Environment 

☐ Council and Corporate Co-ordination 

☒ Democracy, Transparency and Communications 

☐ Economy and Assets 

☐ Finance 

☐ Strategic Planning 

☐ Sustainable Homes and Communities 

☐ Tourism, Sports, Leisure and Culture 

 

Equalities impact Low Impact 

Climate change Low Impact 

Risk: Low Risk;  

Links to background information  

Code of Corporate Governance 

28th July Audit & Governance Committee meeting 

16th March Audit & Governance Committee meeting 

Link to Council Plan 

page 84

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/council-business/our-key-policies/code-of-corporate-governance/purpose-and-scope-of-the-policy/#article-content
https://democracy.eastdevon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=149&MId=1964&Ver=4
https://democracy.eastdevon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=149&MId=1713&Ver=4
https://eastdevon.gov.uk/councilplan/


Priorities (check which apply) 

☒ Better homes and communities for all  

☐ A greener East Devon 

☐ A resilient economy 

 

 

Financial implications: 

 There are no direct financial implications. 

Legal implications: 

 The Code accords with the CIPFA/SOLACE guidance. The Corporate Governance framework is a 
fundamental control element to the Council’s activities. This document is the overarching  

document which sets out our overall approach to governance. It is supported and expanded upon 
by our key policies and the other monitoring activities set out therein. It is important that the 

Council has an up to date Code of Corporate Governance, not least because it helps inform the 
production of the statutory Annual Governance Assurance Statement but also because it helps 
demonstrate to the public that there are appropriate internal controls and accountability for actions. 

The review confirms that there are no amendments required to the Code and that it should 
continue to apply as adopted. The Council must have regard to it when formulating related policies 

or when considering governance related matters. Otherwise there are no legal implications arising. 

 

page 85



 
 
 

Audit and Governance Committee 

17 November 2022 

 
 

Audit and Governance Committee 
 

Forward Plan 2022/23 

Date of 

Committee 

Report Lead Officer 

19 January 2023     Internal Audit Activity – Quarter 3 2021/22 

 

    Audit Committee update 

 Audit Findings Report 

 Auditor’s Annual Report  

 

 Statement of Accounts including Governance 

Statement 2020/21 



    Risk Management review – half year review 

 

 

 Strata Annual Internal Audit report 

 

 Review of the Anti-Fraud Theft and Corruption 
Policy, Anti-Bribery Policy and Whistleblowing 
Policy 

 

 
 

 RIPA update 

SWAP  

 

Grant Thornton 

Grant Thornton 

Grant Thornton 

 

Strategic Lead 

Finance 

Management 

Information Officer 

 

DAP 

 

Strategic Lead 

Governance & 

Licensing 

 
  

Strategic Lead 

Governance & 

Licensing 

 

page 86

Agenda Item 14



16 March 2023     Annual Audit Plan 2022/23 and Review of 

Internal Audit Charter 

 Internal Audit Plan Progress 

    External Audit Plan 

    Audit Committee update 

    Accounting Policies Approval 

 

 RIPA update 

 

SWAP  

 

SWAP 

Grant Thornton 

Grant Thornton 

Financial Services 
Manager 

Strategic Lead 
Governance & 
Licensing 

 
 

page 87


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting
	7 Internal Audit Plan Progress November 2022 (2022/23) - SWAP
	SWAP EDDC Audit Plan Progress Report - Nov22

	8 EDDC Sector update - Grant Thornton
	9 EDDC Audit Plan 2021/22 - Grant Thornton
	10 Partnership Review 2022
	11 STRATA ICT Audit 2021/22 -DAP
	12 Review of the Local Code of Corporate Governance
	14 Audit and Governance Forward Plan

